# **RECEIVED**

# COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No.: 2017AP002452

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSE A. REAS-MENDEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED NOVEMBER 27, 2017 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Maria de Arteaga State Bar No. 1095253 dearteaga@wisc.edu Cristina Bordé State Bar No. 1096060 cristina.borde@wisc.edu

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant Wisconsin Innocence Project 975 Bascom Mall Madison, WI 53706 (608) 262-1002

Emily Burns
Rachel Dykema

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Did the circuit court err in denying DNA testing pursuant to Wis. Stat. section 974.07(7)(a) of a knife, jacket, and fingerprints collected by police and proffered against Mr. Reas-Mendez at trial by holding that Mr. Reas-Mendez did not meet the reasonable-probability-of-a-different-result standard.

The circuit court denied the DNA motion, without a hearing, finding there is not a reasonable probability that DNA evidence would have altered the verdict. (R. 87:3) (A-App. 104).

II. Did the circuit court err in denying DNA testing of fingerprints collected at the scene, without a hearing, based on disputed facts regarding whether testing would destroy the evidence.

The circuit court denied the testing, without a hearing, stating that "[t]he court would not allow DNA testing of the fingerprint lift card for the reasons set forth by the State." (R. 87:3 n.5) (A-App. 104). The State had argued, in its Response, that testing the fingerprints would "destroy the fingerprints and ruin the integrity of the evidence," (R. 84:6) (A-App. 193), which according to the State, is contrary to Wis. Stat. section 974.07(6)(c). (R. 84:6) (A-App. 193).

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Jose Reas-Mendez welcomes oral argument to clarify any questions the Court may have. Publication is not requested because the issues will be resolved by settled law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### The Crime

On May 20, 2008, the victim, C.C., awoke in the middle of the night to the noise of someone moving on her bedroom floor. (R. 97:32.) She sat up, looked around, and with the light from her TV, saw a man on his hands and knees on the floor. (R. 97:32-34.) C.C. testified the intruder was wearing a dark jacket and pants, and had a white shirt covering his face except for his eyes, forehead, and black, slicked-back hair. (R. 97:36-37.) The intruder also had a long knife in his hand. (R. 97:36-37.) After noticing the intruder, C.C. screamed, causing the man to stand. (R. 97:35.)

The intruder told C.C. to "shut up" and to "give [him] all her money." (R. 97:38.) C.C. testified that she communicated with the intruder in a mixture of English and Spanish, and that the intruder spoke English with a "Spanish dialect." (R. 97:47-48.) The intruder took approximately two hundred dollars and a cell phone from the victim's purse. (R. 97:38-41, 50.) After taking the money, he asked C.C. "Is anyone else aqui?" (R. 97:42.) C.C. understood that the perpetrator was asking in Spanish if anyone else was in the apartment. (R. 97:42.) The intruder then got on top of C.C.'s bed and started crawling toward her. (R. 97:42-43.) He then tried to pull down C.C.'s shirt and attempted to pull down her pants, but C.C. was able to stop him by telling him in "half" Spanish that she was "sick down there." (R. 97:43-45.) The man went back to trying to pull down C.C's shirt and rubbed her chest over her shirt, at which point C.C. told the intruder he should leave because someone could have heard her scream. (R. 97:45-47.) The intruder then asked C.C., in English, "Are you going to tell anyone? Are you going to call the police?" (R. 97:47-48.) After C.C. said she would not, the intruder left her bedroom. (R. 97:48.)

C.C. heard the man rummaging around in her apartment. (R. 87:49.) She heard a loud slam, which she assumed to be her front door closing. (R. 97:49.) C.C. waited about five minutes, then walked out of her bedroom and did not see anyone in her apartment. (R. 97:49.) C.C. testified that she looked at her windows, but did not "go to [her] windows, touch them, anything like that to the window." (R. 97:87.) C.C. also noticed that the deadbolt in her front door was locked,

meaning that if the intruder left through the door, he would have to have had a key to lock it from the outside. (R. 97:50.) Scared that the intruder was outside her front door, C.C. waited in her apartment for 20-30 minutes before leaving to go to her sister's apartment to call the police around 2:00 or 2:30 a.m. (R. 97:51-52.)

#### The Police Investigation

Police responded to the 911 call and interviewed C.C. at her sister's house. (R. 97:53.) C.C. reported during that interview that she believed the intruder was one of the maintenance workers at her apartment complex and that she believed her windows had been locked. (R. 98:24.) Police then went to C.C.'s apartment to investigate the crime scene. (R. 98:22.)

On the same day as the assault, almost eight hours later, a person called the police and reported seeing two men beating another man, pull that man into a vehicle, and then drag him into the building at 8831 N. 96th St., another building in the same apartment complex as C.C.'s apartment. (R. 79:21, 25) (A-App. 126, 130). A nearby officer reported seeing Mr. Reas-Mendez running from the area of the fight. (R. 79:26) (A-App. 131).

When officers arrived at the scene, the apartment manager at a nearby apartment building flagged the officers down and reported noises in the attic of 9720 W Brown Deer Rd. (R. 79:25-26; 97:92) (A-App. 130-31). When police checked the attic, they found Mr. Reas-Mendez hiding and took him into custody for trespassing. (R. 79:26) (A-App. 131). Officers did not find any of the items stolen from C.C. on Mr. Reas-Mendez or in the attic. (R. 79:26, 29) (A-App. 131, 134).

While leaving the apartment building where police found Mr. Reas-Mendez, almost eight hours after the assault on C.C., the officers saw a black-handled kitchen stainless steel knife and a man's dark blue jacket lying on the ground in between 9720 and 9726 Brown Deer Rd. (R. 97:94-95.) The officers collected these items as evidence and inventoried them. (R. 97:95.) Officers later determined they fit the description of the items used in the attack on C.C. (R. 97:95.) Therefore, officers turned them over to a detective on C.C.'s case, Detective Hall. (R. 97:96.) Officer Gordy testified, "I discovered the

evidence. I safeguard had [sic] the evidence. The evidence was given to my partner and the evidence was inventoried." (R. 97:97.)

Later that day, an officer showed C.C. a photo lineup, which included a photo of Mr. Reas-Mendez. (R. 98:28.) After carefully reviewing the photos, C.C. did not identify Mr. Reas-Mendez as her attacker. (R. 97:58-59, 91; 98:28.)

The next day, on May 21, 2008, Detective Ortiz interviewed Mr. Reas-Mendez in a mixture of Spanish and English. (R. 79:31) (A-App. 136). Mr. Reas-Mendez told Detective Ortiz that he learned the office manager did not like him and that the office manager brought two people from Chicago to beat and kill him. (R. 79:31) (A-App. 136). Mr. Reas-Mendez explained that he was in fact attacked by two people from Chicago on May 20, providing a description of events that matched the incident observed by witnesses who called police about the beating. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137). He said one of the men had a gun, and the men threatened his life. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137). Mr. Reas-Mendez told Detective Ortiz that he was able to get away and hide in the attic where police found him. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137). When asked whether he had a knife or blue jacket, Mr. Reas-Mendez denied having either. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137). Detective Ortiz then "informed" Mr. Reas-Mendez that he had committed the crime against C.C. and falsely told him that his fingerprints had been found in the apartment. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137). Mr. Reas-Mendez adamantly denied being in a woman's apartment or being involved in such an offense. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137). He expressed confusion and asked what he was accused of doing and where his fingerprints were found. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137). Mr. Reas-Mendez stated that he wanted to take the matter to court and requested an attorney. (R. 79:32) (A-App. 137).

The following day, on May 22, 2008, the police invited C.C. to the station for an interview and live line-up. (R. 98:30.) During the interview, C.C. told police that when she returned to her apartment in the previous two days, she noticed damage to her living room window. (R. 98:34.) C.C. testified that when she went back to her apartment on May 22, after only having been in and out of the apartment the prior two days to grab clothes, she noticed a trail of grass and rocks on her carpet that led from the living room window to her bedroom. (R. 97:56.) C.C. stated that the rocks and grass were not there when she

went to bed the evening of May 19. (R. 97:56.) C.C. also testified that she noticed the curtain over her living room window hanging differently than it usually did—something she stated she had not paid attention to previously. (R. 97:57.)

C.C. then viewed a live-lineup consisting of four people, including Mr. Reas-Mendez. (R. 98:30-33, 38.) Out of all of the participants in the photo and live lineups, Mr. Reas-Mendez was the only person included in both. (R. 97:85-86.) During the lineup, participants wore bandanas over their noses and mouths and were instructed to say the phrase "Are you going to tell anybody? Are you going to call the police?" in English. (R. 98:30-33.) Mr. Reas-Mendez was the only participant with a heavy Spanish accent in the lineup. (R. 72:7.) After hearing the participants speak, C.C. identified Mr. Reas-Mendez as the perpetrator. (R. 97:65; 99:38.)

After C.C.'s identification of Mr. Reas-Mendez in the live lineup, an Identification Technician was dispatched to C.C.'s home to process the exterior surface of the living room windows for fingerprints. (R. 97:99.) The technician recovered three lifts from the window using black magnetic powder and cellophane see-through lift tape, which she pressed on the prints, peeled off, and adhered to a white card. (R. 97:100, 104.) After the technician recovered the prints, she "put them in a latent case envelope, turned them into the Identification Division in order for them to go to the next person which would be a latent print examiner." (R. 97:102-103.) The next morning, a latent print examiner compared the recovered prints from the known prints of Mr. Reas-Mendez and identified Mr. Reas-Mendez as the source of two of the three lifts. (R. 98:12-14.) The print examiner determined the third lift lacked sufficient quality to establish identity. (R. 98:12.) On May 24, 2008, Mr. Reas-Mendez was charged with the burglary, sexual assault, and armed robbery of C.C. (R. 1.)

#### The Trial

The main issue at trial was the identification of the perpetrator. C.C. testified that Mr. Reas-Mendez was her attacker and that the jacket and knife found outside the building where Mr. Reas-Mendez was arrested looked like those used by the perpetrator. (R. 97:65, 72.) The latent print examiner testified that "the fingerprints recovered match the fingerprints from Jose Reas-Mendez and that there is no

way that those fingerprints could have been placed there by any other person." (R. 98:14.) Finally, the prosecution further argued that "within about eight hours of the offense within about a hundred yards of where the crime happened and near where he is arrested is a knife that looks similar and a jacket to the person [sic] who broke into the home." (R. 99:28.)

The defense produced no witnesses and Mr. Reas-Mendez did not testify. (R. 98:41-43.) Rather, the defense relied on cross-examining C.C. and attempted to point out inconsistencies in her statements identifying Mr. Reas-Mendez as her attacker. (R. 99:29-34.)

Although Mr. Reas-Mendez had a legitimate reason for hiding in the attic – that he was being attacked by two individuals from Chicago, (R. 79:21, 25-26, 31-32) (A-App. 126, 130-31, 136-37) – defense counsel, for reasons never made clear on the record, requested to exclude this evidence, and the court granted that request. (R. 97:69-70.) As a result, the jury was given no reason to explain why Mr. Reas-Mendez was hiding in an apartment attic near where C.C. was attacked other than that he must have committed the crime. (R. 99:28.)

While deliberating, the jury submitted several questions to the court, indicating they could not reach an agreement, including, "What happens if we're not in agreement[?]," and, "is there a time limit on our decision?" (R. 100:2-5.) They also asked, "Was he offered a plea bargain?" (R. 100:2-5.) The jury ultimately returned a guilty verdict, after which the court sentenced Mr. Reas-Mendez to 20 years of initial confinement and 5.5 years of extended supervision. (R. 100:2-5; 101:18.)

#### Postconviction DNA Motion

On August 21, 2017, Mr. Reas-Mendez filed a motion for DNA testing pursuant to Wis. Stat. section 974.07. (R. 79) (A-App. 106-190). In the motion, he sought testing of evidence collected at and near the scene of the crime, which was left by the perpetrator, including the knife, the jacket, and the fingerprints. (R. 79) (A-App. 106-190). He argued that he met the statutory requirements for DNA testing pursuant to subsection 974.07(7)(a)2. (R. 79) (A-App. 106-190). After responsive pleadings from both parties, the circuit court denied Mr. Reas-Mendez's DNA motion without first holding a hearing, in a

written decision and order filed November 27, 2017. (R. 84, 86, 87) (A-App. 191-200, 201-09, 102-05). In the Decision and Order, the circuit court adopted the State's analysis, finding Mr. Reas-Mendez had not met the reasonable probability criteria of section 974.07(7)(a)2 of the DNA statute. (R. 87:3-4) (A-App. 104-05). Mr. Reas-Mendez now appeals.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Reas-Mendez's motion for post-conviction DNA testing pursuant to Wis. Stat. section 974.07(7)(a) of a knife, a jacket, and fingerprints collected by police and proffered against Mr. Reas-Mendez at his trial. Mr. Reas-Mendez meets all four criteria required by the mandatory testing scheme of subsection (7)(a). The circuit court's holding that Mr. Reas-Mendez has not shown a reasonable probability that he would not have been convicted if exculpatory DNA results had been available is erroneous.

As a preliminary matter, Mr. Reas-Mendez meets all four criteria of subsection (7)(a). He maintains his innocence as required by subsection (7)(a)(1). (R. 79:8) (A-App. 113). He has complied with the three criteria of subsection (2)(a) to (c), referenced in subsection (7)(a)(3), which the court assumed he had met. (R. 87:3) (A-App. 104). He has shown that the evidence to be tested, which was introduced at trial, is relevant, in the possession of a government agency, and has not previously been subjected to DNA testing. (R. 79:8,11-13; 86:1-3.) In compliance with subsection (7)(a)(4), he has shown that the chain of custody of the evidence establishes that it has not been tampered with, replaced, or altered in any material respect. (R. 79:12-13; 86:4-6) (A-App. 117-18, 204-06).

Mr. Reas-Mendez has also complied with subsection (7)(a)(2) by demonstrating that there is a reasonable probability that he would not have been convicted had exculpatory DNA results been available before conviction. (R. 79:13-17; 86:6-8) (A-App. 118-122, 206-08). The circuit court's holding, adopting the State's analysis, that Mr. Reas-Mendez did not meet this subsection was erroneous for several reasons. First, the court failed to assume exculpatory results, as required by the statute. Second, the court incorrectly required that Mr. Reas-Mendez show he *could not have been* convicted in order to meet

the reasonable probability criteria. Third, the court's analysis relied on a misunderstanding of the uncontested facts in the case. If the court had applied the correct legal standard and correctly understood the facts of the case, the court should have found that there is a reasonable probability he would not have been convicted if exculpatory DNA results were available.

The circuit court also erred in not granting a hearing before determining whether to grant testing of the fingerprints. A hearing was necessary to resolve a factual dispute as to whether the integrity of the fingerprint evidence could be preserved prior to conducting the DNA testing.

As a result, this Court should reverse the circuit court's erroneous ruling and order DNA testing of the knife, jacket, and fingerprints consistent with Wis. Stat. section 974.07(7)(a).

#### ARGUMENT

#### Standard of Review

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has expressly left open whether decisions to grant or deny post-conviction DNA testing under Wis. Stat. section 974.07(7)(a)2 are reviewed *de novo* or for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Denny*, 2017 WI 17, ¶ 75, 373 Wis. 2d 390, 891 N.W.2d 144. This Court, however, need not resolve that question here either, for two reasons. First, the circuit court's decision misinterprets and misapplies the legal standards under 974.07, and hence constitutes an error of law. Interpretation and application of a statute are questions of law reviewed *de novo*. *Denny*, 2017 WI 17, ¶ 46. Second, even if this Court applies the erroneous exercise of discretion standard, Mr. Reas-Mendez's claim still succeeds because the circuit court based its decision on a misunderstanding of the facts of record and unreasonably and incorrectly failed to recognize that exculpatory DNA test results would almost certainly establish Mr. Reas-Mendez's innocence and hence produce a different outcome.

#### DNA Postconviction Statute

Postconviction DNA testing in Wisconsin is governed by Wis. Stat. section 974.07. The statute provides that a person convicted of a crime may, at "any time" after being convicted, "make a motion in the court in which he . . . was convicted . . . for an order requiring forensic [DNA] testing of evidence." Wis. Stat. § 974.07(2) (2015-16)<sup>1</sup>.

Section 974.07(7)(a) states that a circuit court "shall" grant a motion for DNA testing if four requirements are met:

- (1) "The movant claims that he . . . is innocent of the offense at issue";
- (2) "It is reasonably probable that the movant would not have been prosecuted [or] convicted . . . for the offense at issue . . . if exculpatory [DNA] results had been available before the prosecution [or] conviction . . . for the offense";
- (3) "The evidence to be tested meets the conditions under [Wis. Stat. § 974.07(2)(a), (b), & (c)]"; and,
- (4) "The chain of custody of the evidence to be tested establishes that the evidence has not been tampered with, replaced, or altered in any material respect or, if the chain of custody does not establish the integrity of the evidence, the testing itself can establish the integrity of the evidence."

Wis. Stat. § 974.07(7)(a)1-4.

As noted above, the third requirement of subsection (7)(a) references subsection (2), which also has three requirements. Under subsection (2)(a), (b), & (c), the evidence sought to be tested must be (1) "relevant to the investigation or prosecution that resulted in the conviction," (2) "in the actual or constructive possession of a government agency," and (3) "not previously been subjected to forensic [DNA] testing." Wis. Stat. § 974.07(2)(a)-(c).

In contrast to the mandatory scheme under subsection (7)(a), subsection (7)(b) provides a discretionary scheme where the circuit court "may" grant the motion if three requirements are met. *Denny*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2015-16 version unless otherwise noted.

2017 WI 17, ¶¶ 51-54. Under subsection (7)(b) the court may order testing if (1) "it is reasonably probable that the outcome of the proceedings that resulted in the conviction . . . for the offense at issue . . . would have been more favorable to the movant if the results of [DNA] testing had been available before he . . . was prosecuted, convicted," (2) "The evidence to be tested meets the conditions under [Wis. Stat. § 974.07(2)(a), (b), & (c)]," and (3) "The chain of custody of the evidence to be tested establishes that the evidence has not been tampered with, replaced, or altered in any material respect or, if the chain of custody does not establish the integrity of the evidence, the testing itself can establish the integrity of the evidence." Wis. Stat. § 974.07(7)(b).

Subsection (8) provides that if a court orders testing, "[t]he court may impose reasonable conditions on any testing ordered . . . in order to protect the integrity of the evidence and the testing process." Wis. Stat. § 974.07(8). Further, if a court orders testing, the court "may" order the movant to pay for the costs of testing "if the court determines the movant is not indigent." Wis. Stat. § 974.07(12); *see also Denny*, 2017 WI 17, ¶ 57. Therefore, the State is required to pay for any testing ordered on behalf of an indigent defendant. See *Denny*, 2017 WI 17, ¶ 57.

## I. The Circuit Court Erred in Holding that Mr. Reas-Mendez did not meet the Reasonable Probability Standard.

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