# RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-01-2018

### COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP2452

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSE A. REAS-MENDEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION DNA TESTING UNDER WIS. STAT. § 974.07, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Reas-Mendez also falsely asserts that C. C. "excluded" him from a photo array. (Reas-Mendez's Br. 22.) She did not "exclude" him. She could not positively identify anyone in the array, and asked to see a live lineup instead. (R. 97:58–60; 98:27–28.) C.C. was unsure, but she did not "exclude" Reas-Mendez or anyone else by proclaiming, for example: "That is not him."

has not challenged the reasonableness of trial counsel's strategic decision not to challenge the fingerprint evidence.

Reas-Mendez argues further that "[t]he very purpose of the DNA testing would be to determine if the fingerprint analysis was erroneous." (*Id.*) If so, that DNA testing could have and should have been done by the defense before trial when fingerprint evidence could be timely challenged based on those pretrial test results. No doubt, trial counsel saw this as only a quixotic venture that did not warrant the extravagant waste of defense resources and valuable trial preparation time that pretrial testing would entail.

fingerprints also matched the prints recovered from the window to the same extent that Reas-Mendez's prints matched them. There is "no way," the fingerprint expert testified at trial, that the prints would match anyone but Reas-Mendez. (R. 98:14.) This is, therefore, nothing but speculation on speculation unsupported by facts. A thirdparty fingerprint match to those lifted from the window is but a remote possibility and not a reasonable probability. The only known match of the prints on the card was with Reas-Mendez's prints. The motion failed to allege any plausible factual scenario whereby the card containing Reas-Mendez's own latent prints would also contain the DNA and matching *fingerprints* of a third party *perpetrator*. Reas-Mendez offers no reason to believe that anyone's DNA, other than his own or perhaps that of the police officer who lifted the prints, would be found on the card.

Finally, at page 13 of his brief, Reas-Mendez concedes that he is relying only on a remote possibility and not on a reasonable probability that something favorable will turn up. "The circuit court ignored or dismissed the *possibility* that DNA testing could prove that the [fingerprint] examiner's testimony was wrong." This "anything is possible" standard of pleading ignores the "reasonable probability" standard in the statute. Because the motion offered only an absurd theory of innocence based on speculation and conjecture—but not on new facts—in the ten years since trial, the trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny it.

# 3. There is a significant risk the fingerprint evidence will be destroyed.

The trial court properly determined that there is a significant risk the fingerprint evidence would be destroyed in the testing process. (R. 84:6); Wis. Stat. § 974.07(6)(c). Reas-Mendez argues that the fingerprint evidence would not be destroyed, but the trial court was not required to take him

at his word. The court believed the State's assertion that "the tape would need to be removed from the card" for testing and this would "ruin the integrity of the evidence." (R. 84:6.)

If the tape is removed, experience teaches that the fingerprint evidence will in all likelihood be destroyed and its integrity ruined. Reas-Mendez "explained" why that is not necessarily so (Reas-Mendez's Br. 26), but he did not proffer an affidavit or even an unsworn statement from anyone at the State Crime Laboratory to support his allegation that there is no risk the fingerprint evidence would be destroyed in the testing process. Instead, he "requested a hearing to present testimony" to that effect from some unidentified person at the State Crime Laboratory. (*Id.*) That makes his allegation that the evidence would not be destroyed in the testing process only a conclusory one that the trial court could reject as lacking evidentiary support. At the very least, the *risk* of destruction is substantial even assuming the evidence might not *necessarily* be completely destroyed.

In the end, Reas-Mendez does not care that the fingerprint evidence might be destroyed because he sees no valid reason why the State would want to preserve it. (Reas-Mendez's Br. 27 n.14.) The trial court reasonably decided that the State had good reason to want to preserve the integrity of this evidence, especially when Reas-Mendez claims the right to testing on demand for the first time more than a decade after trial in hopes of winning a new trial where the fingerprint evidence would once again take center stage. If the fingerprint evidence is destroyed, then Reas-Mendez could gain a windfall acquittal on retrial.

The trial court reasonably decided not to take that unnecessary risk. There was no plausible showing in the motion that testing of the fingerprint card now would produce anything of value to the defense that was not apparent when trial counsel decided against either pursuing a DNA test on it or challenging the fingerprint evidence lifted from the window onto the card over a decade ago.

## 4. The motion failed to show a reasonable probability that a third-party perpetrator's DNA will be found on any of these items.

In his motion, Reas-Mendez claimed that he is actually innocent and, by necessary implication, that an unidentified third party committed the crimes. (R. 79:14–15.) His fishing expedition would rest on the hope that test results would reveal "DNA on the knife, jacket, and fingerprint that excluded him and included a third party." (Reas-Mendez's Br. 12.) At trial, however, Reas-Mendez did not take the stand to proclaim his actual innocence and did not argue that a third party committed these crimes. He did not put on an alibi defense. He put on no defense other than to argue that the prosecution failed to meet its "beyond a reasonable doubt" burden of proof because of supposed weaknesses in C.C.'s identification of him.<sup>4</sup>

Reas-Mendez did not try to prove at trial that a thirdparty committed the crimes. *See State v. Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 622, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984) (the third-party defense is difficult to establish; the defendant must show more than "a bare possibility that a third party might be the culprit"). To put on a third-party defense, the defendant must establish motive, opportunity, and a direct connection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Reas-Mendez apparently now wants to present a new defense: he was hiding out in the nearby attic not because he broke into C.C.'s apartment, but because he was hiding from two men who he claims attacked him. (Reas-Mendez's Br. 24.) Reas-Mendez does not explain why he and his trial attorney chose not to put on that defense. He does not challenge counsel's effectiveness for strategically deciding against putting it on. Just how DNA test results of the jacket, knife, and fingerprint lift card would enhance this new defense is anyone's guess.

between the third party and the crime. *Id.* at 624; *State v. Oberlander*, 143 Wis. 2d 825, 836, 422 N.W.2d 881 (Ct. App. 1988), *rev'd on other grounds*, 149 Wis. 2d 132, 438 N.W.2d 580 (1989). To put on a third-party defense at trial, the defendant must allege specific facts to show there is a "legitimate tendency" that a third party committed the crime and that he did not. *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 623.

Reas-Mendez did not make any such showing at trial and made no such showing in his postconviction motion. He presented only speculation, but not a "legitimate tendency," that an unidentified third party committed these crimes. The motion did not offer any new third-party-perpetrator evidence that came to light since trial. There was not at the time of trial and there is not now any evidence pointing to anyone but Reas-Mendez as the perpetrator. If there were any plausible, new third-party evidence, Reas-Mendez certainly would have included it in his motion. He did not because there is none.

Reas-Mendez apparently hopes that DNA testing will turn up something that will now enable him to prove the "legitimate tendency" of third-party liability that he did not try to prove at trial. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d at 623. His motion did not, however, offer any new evidence pointing to a third party with the same motive and opportunity to commit the crimes, or to a third party with a direct connection to the crimes. His motion alleged only "a bare possibility" that some unidentified third party may have committed the crimes. *Id.* at 622. His motion failed because it did not address the questions: who, what, when, where, how, and why there was not then but there is now plausible ("legitimate tendency") third-party liability evidence that would make DNA testing something other than the extravagant flyer at public expense that it appears to be. Romero-Georgana, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 37.

## D. Reas-Mendez is not entitled to testing in hopes of finding a "shot in the dark" match on a national database.

Reas-Mendez insists that mandatory, court-ordered testing on his naked allegation of actual innocence must include a blind comparison with national DNA databases in his "shot-in-the-dark" hope that there might be a match with a known criminal somewhere. (Reas-Mendez's Br. 19 ("The testing could exclude Mr. Reas-Mendez and identify the true perpetrator, either by matching a third-party DNA profile to a profile in the government's database of convicted offenders").) That is precisely the sort of "fishing expedition" decried by the *Denny* court. 373 Wis. 2d 390, ¶ 66.

The motion offered no reason to believe that a blind comparison of third-party DNA found on any of these items would match anyone on the national database (other than Reas-Mendez). See Dean, 708 N.W.2d at 644 (citing State v. Lotter, 669 N.W.2d 438, 447 (Neb. 2003)) (DNA testing "presupposes at least two samples of biological material" for comparison). The Florida Supreme Court summarily rejected a similar argument that mandatory postconviction testing should include blind profile comparisons with those on the state's DNA database based on nothing more than speculation:

Gore asserted in his motion filed with the trial court that DNA testing will allow the Florida Department of Law Enforcement to "compare those profiles to the profiles of known perverts." This is exactly the sort of speculation and fishing expedition for which [the postconviction testing statute] was not intended.

*Gore v. State*, 32 So. 3d 614, 619–20 (Fla. 2010) (citing *Lott v. State*, 931 So. 2d 807, 820–21 (Fla. 2006)). The trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny testing for this speculative purpose.

E. A motion must allege specific facts to enable the postconviction court to determine whether there is, in fact, a reasonable probability that exculpatory DNA test results before trial would have prevented the prosecution or conviction.

Reas-Mendez insists that he was not required to make any factual showing in his motion. Testing at public expense is mandatory based only on his conclusory allegation of actual innocence. This is so, he believes, because the statute *presumes* that DNA testing of any item deemed to be relevant only to the police *investigation* will exonerate him. (R. 79:7–8, 14-15.)<sup>5</sup>

This is an unreasonably broad construction of § 974.07(7) because it excuses any motion filed under § 974.07 from including the factual specificity that is required for all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Rather than offer specific facts, Reas-Mendez's motion offered only anecdotal articles showing that, on rare occasions, evewitness identification testimony may not be reliable depending on the circumstances (Reas-Mendez's Br. 21), and offered an article "analyzing 22 documented cases involving fingerprint errors" (Id. at 13–14 n.4). This is neither new nor remarkable. The article about fingerprint evidence was published in 2005, four years before trial. Reas-Mendez also disregards the countless cases where fingerprint evidence has withstood scrutiny. Moreover, he cites no case law rejecting fingerprint evidence as unreliable under Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993). A Daubert challenge to the fingerprint evidence would have been baseless. See, e. g., United States v. Crisp, 324 F.3d 261, 265-70 (4th Cir. 2003) (and cases cited therein); State v. Favela, 323 P.3d 716, 718–20 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2014) (and cases cited therein). So, the same fingerprint evidence would come in at a retrial. Finally, as this Court held on direct appeal, there was no basis for trial counsel to challenge the police lineup procedure or C.C.'s in-court identification of Reas-Mendez as her assailant. (R-App. 101–11.) Reas-Mendez is procedurally barred from raising these issues anew or for the first time now. State v. Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 181–86, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994).

other postconviction motions. It also would not require the motion to answer the essential who, what, when, where, how, and why factual questions that would explain to the trial court why testing is called for now even though it was not requested before trial. *See Romero-Georgana*, 360 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 37. Assuming the motion adequately answered those factual questions, the trial court could better assess the need for testing. It would not be required to order DNA testing on demand based on nothing but the movant's conclusory say-so.

Most important, testing on demand based only on conclusory, factually unsubstantiated allegations contravenes the *Denny* court's proscription against § 974.07 "fishing expeditions." 373 Wis. 2d 390, ¶ 66. It takes the victim's compelling interest in closure out of the equation. Id. at  $\P$  70 n.16. It also ignores the compelling State interest in the finality of criminal convictions. E.g., State v. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 75, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350 (a court may not grant discretionary reversal until after it has balanced the compelling state interests in the finality of convictions and proper procedural mechanisms against factors favoring reversal); State v. Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 48, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482 (the exacting "manifest injustice" standard for plea withdrawal preserves the compelling interest in the finality of criminal convictions once the plea is entered and sentenced is imposed).

The plain language of § 974.07(7)(a) also defeats Reas-Mendez's boundless construction of its scope. The statute provides: "*A court*... shall order" DNA testing if, under sub. (7)(a)2., "[i]t is reasonably probable that the movant would not have been prosecuted [or] convicted ... if exculpatory [DNA] testing results had been available before the prosecution [or] conviction." "A court" cannot make that inherently factual "reasonable probability" determination in a factual vacuum. The statute does not, after all read: "If the *movant alleges* that there is a reasonable probability he would not have been prosecuted or convicted, the court shall order testing." Instead, the statute requires "[a] court" to make that inherently factual determination based on what is alleged in the motion. A conclusory allegation of innocence bereft of any supporting facts does not give the court any basis for finding that there is a *reasonable probability* the movant would not have been prosecuted or convicted if, despite the long odds, something "exculpatory" turns up.

The court is required to order testing—it has no discretion in the matter—only when the motion alleges sufficient facts to support the allegation of need for testing, giving the court plausible reasons for it to find that there is *in fact* a *reasonable probability* the movant would not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory test results were available before trial. The motion must, accordingly, adequately address and answer the fact questions: who, what, when, where, how, and why in the factual context of the particular case to enable "[a] court" to accurately assess the need for testing based on more than conclusory allegations.

Reas-Mendez was, of course, free to rely only on his speculation and conclusory allegations, but the trial court was, as with any other postconviction motion, free in its discretion to reject the motion on that basis alone.

Reas-Mendez's motion offered nothing new or specific beyond what was known at trial. It did not, for instance, identify a third-party perpetrator or allege the post-trial discovery of reliable new eyewitnesses or physical evidence. *See McQuiggin v. Perkins*, 569 U.S. 383, 394–96 (2013); *Coleman v. Lemke*, 739 F.3d 342, 349 (7th Cir. 2014), *cert. denied*, 134 S. Ct. 2317 (2014) (to overcome a procedural default in federal habeas, the petitioner must present new and reliable evidence of actual innocence).

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